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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V.

DONALD LUSTER, and
WILL WILEY

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my kndeedge
and belief. From in or around November 2017 to in or around January 2018, at Harvey, in the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, the defendant(s)s violated:

Code Section Offense Description

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 did knowingly agree and conspire to commit an
: offense against the United States, that is, for an agent
of a local government that received $10,000 or more in
federal benefits in any one year period to corruptly
solicit, demand, accept, and agree to accept, anything
of value from any person, intending to be influenced
or rewarded in connection with any business,
transaction, or series of transactions of such local
government involving anything of value of $5,000 or
more, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 666(a)(1)(B);

~ This criminal complaint is based upon these facts:

X "‘&@%bntinued on the attached sheet.

NIJIKA RUSTAGI -
Special Agent, Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

1
Date: March & 2019

City and state: Chicago, Illinois MARITA VALDEZ, U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printed name and Title




- UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
s
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

AFFIDAVIT

- I, NIJIKA RUSTAGI, being duly sworn, state as follows:
. I. Introduction

1. I am a Special Agent with the FederaliBureau of Investigatioh, and have
been so empioyed since approximately December 2017. My current fe'sponsibilities
inciude the investigation of public corruption offenses, including bribery and rewards
conCérniﬁg programs'receiving federal benefits, in violation of Title 18, United States
: Céde, Section 666(a). As part of my dutieAs, I have been invoived in various types of
electronig surveillance, thg preparation and execution of search warrants, as well as
in the debﬁeﬁng of defendants, witnesses, informants and others who have
| knowledge of criminal activities. Through my Work as an FBI Special Agent, I have
become familiar with the means and methods of those engaged in corrupfion-reléted
offénses.

2. I have been involved in the investigation of DQNALD LUSTER and
WILL WILEY concerning their involvement in violations of federal law, including
violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. |

3.  This affidavit is submitted in support of a criminal complaint alleging
that DON’ALD LUS’i‘ER and WILL WILEY have Violated Titie 18, United States
Code, Section 371. Because this affidavit is being submitted for the limited purpose

of establishing probable cause in support of a criminal complaint charging LUSTER




and WILEY with conspiring to commit an offense against the United States, that is,
fqr an agenf of a local government that receiyed $10,000 or more in federal benefits |
in ‘any one year period to corruptly solicit, demand, accept, and agree to accept,,.
‘anﬁhng of value from any person, intendl;ng to be influenced or reWarded in
connection vﬁth any business, transaction, or series of transactions of such local
government involving anything of Valug of $5,000 or more, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 666(a)(1)(B), I have not included each and every fact
known to me concerning this investigation. I have set forth only the facts that I
believe are necessary ;co establish probable cause to believe that the defendants
committed the offeﬁsé aileged in the complaint. |

4. The information contained in this éfﬁdavif is based on my participation
in this investigatién; my review of preliminary tfanscripts and summaries of .court-
authorized Aintercept;ions of wire communications and .consensually recorded
conversations; witness interviewé; review of records obtained from various parties;
discussions with other léW enforcement agents §vith knowledge of this investigation;
my trainiﬁg and experience; and the training and experience of other law enforcement
officers with whom I have consulted. Since this affidavit is being sﬁbmitted for the
limited purpose of establishing probable cause as set forth herein, I have not included
each and every fact known to me concerning this investigati.on.

»5. This affidavit includes summaries of court-authorized interceptions of
wire communications and consénsually recorded conversations, as well as my

understanding of certain such conversations which are set forth in brackets. My




understanding of these conversations is aided by the content and context 0f the
conversations, my familiarity with the facts and circumstances of this investigation,
my eipe;‘ience as a law enforcemenf officer, the experience of other law enforcement
agents and officers in this investigation, my discussions with other law enforcement
6fﬁcers, my discussions with confidential sources with relevant knowledge, and other.
evidence developed during the course of this investigation. The times listed for the
intercepted and consensually recorded conversations are approximéte. Further,
summaries of the- intercepted and consensually recorded conversations herein are
based on draft—not final—transcripts and do not represent the entire conversation
that occurred between the identified individuals.
II. Summary of Probable Cause

6. There is p.robabhe cause to believe that' DONALD LUSTER, WILL
WILEY, and others i{nown and unknown, conspired to corruptly sélicit bribes.
Specifically, beginning in or around November 2017, LUSTER, an agent of the City
of Harvey, and WILEY agreed to solicit bribe payments from an enfrepreneur who
owned a tow-company iﬁ a neighboring City, in exchange for providing this
entrepreneur with a lease and access toa pafcel of land owned by the City of Harvey,
located in the area of 150th Streef and Loomis Aﬁenue (the “Loomis Lof”). WILL
WILEY agreed to act as the bagman for the purpose.soliciting and receiving the bribes
from the entrepreneur.

7. | Unbeknownst to the consp;irators, the entrepreneur (hereinafter

referred to as “CS-2”) had previously agreed to cooperate with law enforcement and




to make consensual recordings of his/her conversations with LUSTER and WILEY.
On or abouf December 3, 2017, CS-2 made a consensually recorded bribe payment of
$5,000 to WILEY. Shortly after CS-2 paid WILEY, Individual B, an employee of the
Clty of Harvey Who oversaw leases of City property, provided CS-2 access to the
Loomis Lot However, several days 1ater WILEY informed CS-2 that LUSTER and
Individual B wanted an additional $7,000 bribe payment from CS-2 in exchange for
a lease to the Loomis Lot. On or about January 5, 2017, CS-2 delivered the $7 ,000
bﬁbe directly to LUSTER, who advised CS-2 that Individual B had initially proposed

. aeking CS-2 to pay a$50,000 bribe in return for receiving the lease. After receiving |
the money, LUSTER told CS-2 that CS-2 was “good” to use the Loomis Lot, and
indicated that LUSTER would soon issue CS-2 a .formal lease for the Loomis Lot.
After paying the $7,000 bribe, LUSTER and Individual B told CS-2 s/he could
continue to access and use the Loomis Lot.

8. Ultimately, CS-2 did not receive a lease to the Loomis Lot because
LUSTER and Individual B decided to move CS-2’S business to a different tow lot that
was more centrally loc'ated. in Harvey (the “Ashland Lot”). In or around March 2018,
before LUSTER could issue CS-2 a lease to the Ashland Lot, the City terminated
LUSTER as a private contractor, and, despite several attempts, CS-2 was unable to

obtain a lease to the Ashland Lot from Individual B.




III. Facts Establishing Probable Cause

A. Background

9. The City of Harvey is a south suburb of Chicago, with a population of
approximately 25,000. The City of Harvey has received over $10,000 in federal
beneﬁta within any one-year period that overlaps with the criminal conduct set forth
in this affidavit. For example, based on public source data regarding federal
spending, I know that in or about August 2018, the City of Hai'vey recei{red a federal
grant worth approximately $921,300 for emergency response staffing and training.

10. Based on witness interviews, coilrtfauthorized interceptions of wire
communlcatlons my review of City of Harvey financial records, and pubhc source
reportmg, I know the following: DONALD LUSTER i is the former mayor of Dixmoor,
Ilinois. In 2004, LUSTER resigned from his position as mayor after he was convicted
of state benefits fraud and income tax fraud. From no later than in or around
September 2013 and continuing until in or arouild March. 2018, LUSTER worked as
a private administrative,consultant to Individual A, the mayor of the City Harvey.~
Between in or around September 2013 and in or around February 2018, the City of
Harvey paid LUSTER, as a private contractor and through his consulting company,
Real Municipal Solutions, at least approximately $452,9 17 in consulting fees.

11. Dui‘ing the time that LUSTER worked for Individu‘al A as an
administrative consultant, LUSTER worked largely on economic development and
planning matters for the City of Harvey. LUSTER maintainad an office inside

Harvey’s City Hall, regularly represented the City at public meetings, and, as




explained in detail below, was authorized to act on behalf of the City in certain -
matters, including preparing and issuing leases with respect to City—ownéd property.
Accordingly, during the time period he acted as a pi“ivate administrative consultant, -
. LUSTER was an agent of the City of Harvey. |
12.. Based on witness interviews, consensual recordings, and bourt-‘
‘authorized interceptions of wire cominunisations, I know that Individual B is a City
of Harvey police officer who oversees traffi(i andA towing matters for the City’s police
department. As part.of his official duties, Individual B assigns City towing work to
private tow companies. Individual B also works for the City’s Building and Planning
Department, Where he acts as the ds facto head of the department and oversees
certain public planning matters, including the leasing and sale of City-owned
property. |
| 13. For several years, an entrepreneur (hei‘einafter referred to as “CS-2”)
who owned a private tow company in a neighboring town cooperated'Witli federal law
enforcement in this investigation. CS-2 has two prior felony convictions, both of
which are over 10 years old and are not for crimes of dishonesty. CS-2 has no pending
criminai charges against him/her. According to CS-2, CS-2 elected to begin
cooperating out of a sense of civic duty, in order to expose corruption in the City. of
Harvey. I believe the information provided by CS—2; set forth in this affidavit, is
reliable, as it is corroborated in significant respects by independent evidence,
including judicialiy—authorized wire taps, consensual recordings, physical

surveillance, and witness interviews.




B. WILEY Acts as the Bagman for a $5,000 Bribe Payment to
LUSTER in Exchange for a Lease to the Loomis Lot.

14. Inor around Sep.tember 2017, law enforcement directed CS-2 to attempt
to lease a parcel of land owned by the City of Harvey located in the area of 150t Street
and Loomis Avenue in Harvey (the “Loomis Lot”), purportedly so that CS-2 coﬁld open
up a branch of his/her towing business there.! As discussed below, in a series of
consensually recorded phone calls and meetings, WILEY offered to act as an
intermediary for CS-2 with respect to CS-2’s efforts to obtain a lease fo the Loomis
Lot from the City. |

15. Oﬁ or aboﬁt November 30, 2017, at approximately 3:24 p.m., WILEY
placed an outgoing call on telephone number XXX-XXX-9582 (“WILEY phone”)? to
CS-2, which §Vas consensﬁally recorded.? During the call, WILEY adviéed CS-2 that

LUSTER wanted CS-2 to make a bribe payment of $3,000 or $5,000 in exchange for

1 Based on my review of Cook County Recorder of Deeds records, as well as my
discussions with employees at the Cook County Assessor’s Office, [ know that the City
of Harvey has owned the Loomis Lot since at least approximately 2001.

2 WILEY was identified as the user of WILEY phone as follows: First, based on service
provider records, WILEY was the registered subscriber of WILEY phone during all
‘periods set forth in this affidavit. Second, during consensually recorded or intercepted
phone calls involving WILEY phone, the user of WILEY phone was regularly
addressed as “Will” or “Wiley,” and responded appropriately. Third, during the
investigation, a cooperating source met with WILEY several times in person, and
these meetings were video and/or audio recorded. WILEY was identified in some of
the video recordings based on a comparison of the video to a photograph of WILEY’s
Illinois driver’s license. I have compared the voice of WILEY in the video and audio
recordings from in-person meetings to the voice of the user of WILEY phone, and
recognize the voices to be the same. :

3 Unless otherwise noted, all telephone calls and meetingsbetween CS-2 on the one
hand, and WILEY and LUSTER on the other, were consensually recorded.




the lease. Specifically, WILEY said, “Alright, listen to this. Jﬁst got off the phone
vWith Revereﬁd Lustert and [Alderman Al, okay? ... I need you to form é letter to, to
the mayor [Individual Al, the mayor, okay? . . . Tell him what you want to do, what -
you need the property [the Loomis Lot] for. Make éure that you i)ut in there that
you’re going to . . . do all the cleaning and fixing up at a thousand dollars a month

rent.” [WILEY told CS-2 that LUSTER and Alderman 1 wanted CS-2 to write a letter
~ to Individual A, the maybr of the City of Harvey, explaining what CS-2 -Wanted to do
with the Loomis Lot, and to state that CS-2 was willing to pay $1,000 per montil in
rent, which CS-2 and I understood to be a reference to a legitimate monthly lease
payment.] CS-2 responded, “So how much . . . how much the Rev want.” ‘[CS-2 asked
BOW much in bribe payments LUSTER wanted froﬁ CS—2 inlexchang‘e for the lease.]
WILEY said, “That’s, I think that’s the same thing [unintelligible].” CS-2 said, “He
[LUSTER] onlyyiNant a thousand bucks?” [CS-2 asked if LUSTER was only seeking
a $1,000 bribe payment (the séme amount as the monthiy rent).] WILEY said, “No,
- what we came with, the, the three. Was it five? I don’t know, I think it was five.” |
[WILEY said he believed LUSTER wanted CS-2 1;,0 make either a $é,000 or $5,000
bribe payment to LUSTER in exchange for the Cify issuipg CS-2 alease to the Loomis

Lot.]

4 Based on my involvement in this investigation, including witness interviews and
review of wire interceptions and consensual recordings, I know that LUSTER works
part-time as a minister, and is frequently addressed as “Reverend Luster” and “Pastor
Luster.”




16. Baéed on toll records, on or about November 30, 2017, at approximately
2:21 ‘p.m. (approximately one hour before WILEY placed the phone call to CS-2
discussed in the above pai‘agraph), WILEY phone had contact with telephone number
XXX—XXX-ZQ29 (“LUSTER phone”), used by LUSTER.> Specifically, WILEY phone
| and LUSTER phone were in telephohic confact for appro%imately' 1 mihute and 24
seconds.

17. Pen register data reflects that on or abdut December 2, 2017, at
approximately 5:02 p.m., there was telephone contact between WILEY phone aﬁd
LUSTER phone that lasted approximately 1 minute and nine seconds.

18.  Om or about December 2, 2017, at approximately 11:58 p.m., WILEY
placed an outgoing call on WILEY phone to CS-2. During the call, WILEY told CS-2
to deliver the bribe payment to WILEY the next day‘. Specifically, WILEY said, “Hey -

. . come on tomorrow With that.” CS-2 said, “For what, Harvey?” WILEY said,

“Yeah.” CS-2 said, “For the towing?” [CS-2 asked if the bribe was in exchange for

5 LUSTER was identified as the user of LUSTER phone as follows: First, based on
service provider records, LUSTER was the registered subscriber of LUSTER phone
during all periods set forth in this affidavit. Second, during lawful recordings of
telephone calls involving LUSTER phone, the user of the phone regularly referred to
himself as “Reverend Luster” and “Pastor Luster.” Further, the user of LUSTER
phone was regularly addressed as the same, or as “Donnie,” and responded
appropriately. Third, during the investigation, cooperating sources have met with
LUSTER several times in person, and these meetings have been video and/or audio
recorded. LUSTER was identified in some of the video recordings based on a
comparison of the video to a photograph of LUSTER’s Illinois driver’s license. I have
compared the voice of LUSTER in the video and audio recordings from in-person
meetings to the voice of the user of LUSTER phone, and recognize the voices to be the
same. :




City towing work.] WILEY said, “No.” CS-2 said, “Oh, the lot?” [CS-2 asked if the
bribe was in exchange for a lease to the Loomis Lot.] WILEY said, “Yeah.”

19. Oﬁ or about December 3, 2017, at approxirhately 3:15 p.m;, CS-2 met
with investigating agents, who prdvided CS-2 with $5,000 to deliver to WiLEY.
Agents Searched CS-2 an(i his/her vehicle and did not find any other large amounts
of cash. CS-2 thén traveled to W & K Towing, located at 14810 Myrtle Avenue in
Harvey, to meet WILEY. .

20. On or about December 3, 2017, at approximatély 3:25 p.m., CS-2 met
with WILEY at W & K Towing.6 During the meeting, CS-2 asked, “So when he going
to héve something for me?” [CS-2 asked when LUSTER would have a lease for the
Loomis Lot ready for CS-2.] WILEY said, “Théy goihg Monday to the, uh, to the, uh-
2 0S-2 interjected, “So how much he want?” [CS-2 asked how much money LUSTER
wanted in exchange for the Loomis Lot lease] WILEY said, “5 [$5,000].” CS-2 said,
“You sure he good for it bro? I just don’ﬁ want to gét ....” WILEY said, “It’s my name
- on this.” [WILEY Would.make sure that LUSTER issued the lease to the Loomis Lot
to CS-2 in exghange for the $5,000 payment because WILEY’s riame/reputation was

involved.] Later in the conversation, CS-2 asked, “So how long is it going to take?”

6 WILEY was identified as the individual with whom CS-2 met on December 3, 2017,
as follows: First, prior to the December 3, 2017 meeting, CS-2 had correctly identified
WILEY from an unmarked photograph obtained from WILEY’s Illinois driver’s
license. After CS-2’s meeting on December 3, 2017, CS-2 told agents WILEY was the
individual with whom he met, and to whom he delivered the $5,000. Second, I have
reviewed the video and audio recording of CS-2’s December 3, 2017, meeting and can
identify WILEY in the video based on a visual comparison with his Illinois driver’s
license photo, and a voice comparison of the user of WILEY phone.

- 10




WILEY said, “You should be able to start Workrng on it [the Loemis Lot] next week.
Clearling [unintelligible].” (S-2 said, “They going to give me permission to start
working on it? Alright.” CS-2 then gave WILEY the $5,000 bribe payment: “There’s
five [$5,000], just make sure.” According to CS-2, CS-2 then handed the $5,000 to
WILEY. The hand-to-hand exchange is partially visible in the video recording.
Specifically, after CS-2 said, “There’s five, just make sure,” WILEY extended his hand
toward CS-2. Seconds later, the video depicts WILEY counting what appears to be a
bundle of bills (consistent with the size of the $5,000 in cash that agents provided to
CS-2 to give to WILEY) From the video recording, it is possible to see the $100
denomination of one of the bills in WILEY’s hand (agents gave CS-2 $5,000 in 50 $100
bills). After WILEY finished counting, he stated, “That’s ﬁve » [WILEY confirmed
CS-2 had given him $5,000.] At various points during their meeting, CS-2 and
WILEY discussed the possibility of CS-2 paying future bribes to Individual B in
exchange for City towing work. WILEY explained that Individual B had recently
awarded another local tow company (“TOW Company 1”) City towing work because
the owner of Tow Cornpany 1, Indrv1dua1 C, had paid a bribe. WILEY stated,
[Individual C;S first name redacted] and um, him and [a shortened form of Individual
B’s first name redacted] know eac}r other pretty well, you krlow? They know each
other pretty well, and I guess he [Individual C] dropped that (unintel]igible).”
[Individual B awarded towing work to Individual C and Tow Company 1 because
Ind1v1dua1 B knew Individual C and because Ind1v1dua1 C paid a bribe (“dropped

that”) ] CS-2 said, “I would have did it man . . . I'would have gave it to you man.” [CS-

11




2 would have paid a bribe to Individual B in exchange for City towing work by using
WILEY as a bagman.] WILEY responded, “[I]t’s like §ve doing right now, turn around,
take this shit right to them . . . I"m going te go drop this off to the Rev [LUSTER],
then I can ....” [WILEY agreed that CS-2 could pay bribes to Individual B through
WILEY, just as CS—Z.AWaS then giving WILEY a $5,000 bribe payment to take to
LUSTER.] Later in the convereation, CS-2 seid, “So then, why don’t you tell [5
shortened form of Individual B’s name redacted] I'll do the same thing for the fucking
towing?” [CS-2 told WILEY to tell Individual B that CS-2 was prepared to pay a bribe C
to receive tow work from the City of Harvey.] WILEY said, “What I'm going to with
[a shortened form of Individual B’s first neme redacted] is, I'm going to let Luuster tell
him.” Moments later, WILEY answered an incoming call on his cellphone and CS-2
departed W&K Towing. |

21.. After the meeting, CS-2 traveled directly to a predetermined location to
vmeet with agents. CS-2 reported to agente that s/he hed delivered the $5,00Q to
WILEY. Agents searched CS-2 and his/her vehicle and did not find the money that
agents had given CS-2 to deliver to WILEY.

22. Based en pen register data, WILEY phone had contact with LUSTER
phone on or about December 3, 2017, bothvbefore and after WILEY’s meeting with
CS-2, incl‘u(.:]ing shortly after CS-2 delivered the $5,000 to WILEY. Si:)'eciﬁcally, en or
about December 3, 2017, at~api)roximately 3:37 p.m.—just minutes after CS-2 left
W&K towing after delivering the $5,000—WILEY phone blaced an outgoing call to -

LUSTER phone. Based on call duration data, it does not appear this call was

12.




a‘nswered. At that same time, at approximately 3:37 p.m., LUSTER phone sent an
~ outgoing text messége to WILEY phone. Later the same day, at approximately 4:15
p.m.,..LUSTER phone placed an outgoing call to WILEY phone, which call lasted
abproximately 48 seconds. LUSTER phone and WILEY phoné had approximately 4
additional contacts (two phone calls and two text messages) between approximately
. 4:15 p.m. and 5:04 p.m. that day.

23. On or about December'-14, 2017, CS-2 and Individual B arranged to
travel to the Loomis Lot together, so that Individual B could provide CS-2 with access
to the property. |

24. - Onor about December 14 and 15, 2017, through a series of text message
~ communications, CS-2 and Individual B, th was using telephone number XXX-XXX-
1910 (“Individual B phone”)7, égreed to meet at City Hall on the morning of December
15, 2017, and then to travel to the Loomis Lot together so that Individual B could

provide CS-2 with access to the lot. For example, on December 15, 2017, at

7 Individual B was identified as the user of Individual B phone as follows: First, based
on service provider records, Individual B was registered to the City of Harvey during
all periods of interception set forth in this affidavit, and Individual B was a City of
Harvey employee during this same period. Second, during the interception of
Individual B phone, the user of the phone regularly referred to himself by Individual
B’s last name, and was regularly addressed as a shortened form of Individual B’s first
name, as well as by Individual B’s last name, and responded appropriately. Third,
during the investigation, at least two cooperating sources have met with Individual B
in person, and several of these meetings have been video and/or audio recorded.
Individual B was identified in some of the video recordings based on-a comparison of
the video to a photograph of Individual B’s Illinois driver’s license. I have compared
the voice of Individual B in the video and audio recordings from in-person meetings to -
the voice of the user of Individual B phone, and recognize the voices to be the same.

13




approximately 8:39 a.m., CS-2 sent an outgoing text message to Individual B phone
that stated, “Good morning. Do I meet you at your office or yard at 1’0[?] Minutes
later, at approximately 8:47 p.m., CS-2 received a text rrlessage from Individual B
phone that stated “I will B at City Hall.”

25.  On or about December 15, 2017, at approximately 10:20 am., CS-2 met
Individual B inside his office at Harvey’s City Hall.8 During the meeting, Individual
B and CS-2 discussed the terms of CS-2’s Loomis Lot leese. Individual B stated they
needed to discuss “what’s ‘a good price.” Individual B stated “I'm thinking 9—900 a
menth,” which CS—Z and I understood to be a reference to a legitimate monthly lease
payment of $900. CS-2 stated s/he would agree to those terms. CS-2 and Individual
B then travelled from City Hall to the Loomis Lot in separate vehicles. When they
arrived, Individual B cut the lock to the Loomie Lot property, and CS-2 and Individﬁal
B inspected the lot together. At the end of the 'meeting, Individual B instructed CS-
2 to start clear)ing up the property so CS-2’s business could move in. CS-2 and

Individual B did not discuss bribe payments during this meeting.

8 Individual B was identified as the individual with whom CS-2 met at the in person
meetings between CS-2 and Individual B set out in this affidavit as follows: First,
prior to the December 2017, CS-2 had correctly identified Individual B in an
unmarked photograph obtained from Individual B’s Illinois driver’s license. After all
of CS-2’s meetings with Individual B referenced in this affidavit, CS-2 told agents that
Individual B was the individual with whom s/he met that day. Second, I have reviewed
the video and audio recording of CS-2’s meetings and can identify Individual B in the
recordings based on a visual comparison with his Illinois driver’s license photo, and/or
a voice comparison of the user of Individual B phone. Third, agents conducted physical
surveillance of CS-2’s December 15, 2017 meeting at the Loomis Lot, and based on a
comparison with Individual B’s driver’s license photo, identified Individual B as the
person with whom CS-2 met with at the Loomis Lot on that day.
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26. On or about December 18, 2017, at approkimately 11:41 a.m., CS-2 |
placed a consensually recorded call‘ to Individual B',Avs.lhlo was using Individual B
phone. During the call, CS-2 and Individual B diséussed the terms on which CS-2
would lease the Loomis Lot. Specifically, CS-2 said, “What’s up brother? So, um
[unintelligible], the lease?” Individual B.said, “Um, what’s happening with the leaée,
I just left out with Donnie [LUSTER]. I’ll call Donnie now. What did we say that it
was each month? Cause Donnie gonna write it up now.” CS 2 said, “$900.” [CS-2 told |
Individual B that LUSTER had asked for mohthly lease payments of $900 per month
for the Loomis Lot, Whlch as explained below, I believe was a 1eg1t1mate lease
payment to the City that did not include any bribe amounts.] Individual B sald “As
" a matter of fact, you can, you can go downstairs [referring to the lower level of City
.vH.all, Where LUSTER’s office was located]. He'll [LUSTER] write it up now and then
me and you will talk once he write it up for you. Okay? He"s down there now. Where
you at, [CS-2’s first naﬁe redacted]?” CS-2 said, “I'm at, I'm 'at the office.” Individual
B said, “Okay, you can come over there. Donnie’s down there. And he’ll write it up
[unintelligible] ,: How much ié, how many, how mény years did we say? What did we
say?” CS-2 said, “Uh, you, you said we could do 10 years Wifh an option to bﬁy.”
IndividualnB said, “Ten years with an option to buy. That’s good. Okay, tell him
[LUSTER] I said that, 10 years with an option to buy. How Iﬁuch did we say?” CS-2
responded, “900.” Individual B said, “900 émonth. Okay, that’s, that’ s what we want
then. TlL, I'll call him [LUSTER] now and tell him that you on your way in, and that’s’

where we at, okay?” CS-2 said, “Cool. Hey, you think about anything else about, uh,
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me helping you out with that towing?” "[CS-2 asked if Individual B was étﬂl
considering giving CS-2 City toWing buéiness.] Individual B said, “Oh, yes,. sir, I did.
Me and you, me and you Wﬂl talk about that when I see you out here, okay?”
[Individual B would talk to CS-2 about awarding him/her City towing businesé when
CS-2 came to City Hall to sign the lease for the Loomis Lot.]

97.  On or about December 18, 2017, at approximately 1:03 pm, CS-2 met
LUSTER at LUSTER’s office at City Hall.? During the meeting, CS-2 and LUSTER
discussed obtaining a.lease to the Loomis Lot. Specifically, LUSTER asked, “Have
you started yet?” [LUSTER asked CS-2 if s/he had started using the Looinié Lot.]
CS-2 responded, “No, I've been, he [Individual B] told me to wait for the lease.” CS- '
2 explained that s/he met with Individual B approximately fhree déys earlier and‘
went with him to inspect the Loomi>s Lot. CSVZ told LUSTER, “He [Individual B] told
me to come to you and get the lease and shit today.” LUSTER responded, “Let’s go
by théfe [the Loomis Lot] now. And holler at Wiley.:” 'CS-2 and LUSTER then drove
to the Loomis Lot in separate vehicles. Once they afriVed at the lot, CS-2 explained
to LﬁSTER how CS-2 planned to clean up the lot. LUSTER responded, “Go ahead

and get started. And let’s get together tomorrow. Wiley will hit you later on today.”

9 LUSTER was identified as the individual with whom CS-2 met at the in person

' meetings between LUSTER and CS-2 set out in this affidavit as follows: First, before
the meetings, CS-2 had correctly identified LUSTER in an unmarked photograph
obtained from LUSTER’s Illinois driver’s license. After each meeting in-person
meeting with LUSTER discussed in this affidavit, CS-2 told agents that LUSTER was
the individual with whom he met. Second, LUSTER was identified in some of the
video recordings of in person meetings with CS-2 based on a comparison of the video
to a photograph of LUSTER’s Illinois driver’s license. Third, I have compared the
voice of LUSTER in the audio recordings from CS-2’s in-person meetings to the voice
of the user of LUSTER phone, and recognize the voices to be the same.
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- LUSTER added, “T'll get your paperwork [leaée]. I wanna, I knew thié was the area.
I just gotta get the legal desériptién and put the4stuff.” [LUSTER needed the legal
| description'of the property to prepare the lease.] CS-2 said, “That’s cool. But we good
to go ahead and start cleaning up?” LUSTER responded affirmatively. As CS-2 was
walking back to his/her vehicle, LUSTER called oqt, “Wiley will hit you later on.”
[WILEY Would.call CS-2 later.] As CS-2 was driving away, LUSTER flagged down
CS-Z.an.d said, “Do what you got to do, but we ain’t going through the regular
committee, so, just so you know.” CS;Z responded, “Bro, you know I'm down, I'm with
you.” LUSTER said, “You feel me? Alright then, I just want you to know.” [LUSTER
explained that he was not bringing CS-2’s lease prbposal before the “regular” City
committee—which I believe to be a reference to Harvey’s City Council—for approval.]

C. LUSTER and Individual B Use WILEY to Solicit an Additional
$7,000 Bribe Payment from CS-2.

98.  On or about December 19, 2017, at approximately 4:17 pm, CS-2
received an incoming call ffom WILEY, who was using WILEY phone. During the
call, WILEY tpld CS-2 that Individual B and LUSTER (and possibly a third co-
cqnspirator) wanted CS-2 to make an additional $7,000 payment (Whiéh CS-2 and I
understood to be a bribe) to secure a lease from the City for the Loomis Lot property.
Specifically, WILEY said, [Unintelligiblé] bullshit in the mix. Nah, just whenever [a
shorfened form of Individual B’s first name redacted] get involved he makes shit more
complicated. Uh, they need seven.” [Individual B and LUSTER wanted an addiﬁonal J
$7,000 bribe payment.] CS-2 asked, “Seven thousand?” WILEY said, “But that, that

will secure three months of rent too.” [WILEY explained the $7,000 would include
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three monthe of rent payments for thel Loomis Lot] CS-2 responded, “Damn.”
WILEY said, “I said, man, they Wanted more. He [Individual B], he showing me shit
where they charged the motherfucker on Dixie nghway fifteen thousand. Then the
other I'm like, dude, I said this was somethlng I needed done.” [Ind1v1dua1 B and/or
LUSTER had wanted CS-2 to pay more than $7,000, but WILEY told them he needed
the transactlon completed.] CS-2 said, “Man, well, motherfucker gonna give me some
fucking towing, man? Shit. That’s, that’s taking away from that, that package I had
going for the towing.” [CS-2 asked if Individual B would steer City towing work to
CS-2 if s/he made the additional $7,000 payment.] WILEY said, “That’ll open the
door for you. Because now he [Individual B] know he'll be able to trust you.” [WILEY
explained that paying an additional $7,000 bribe for the lease to the Loomis Lot would
make Individual B more likely to trust CS-2 when it came to soliciting a bribe for
towing work.] CS-2 replied, “Right. Man, I just don’t want to get fucked, man. I just
gave him five [$5,QOO]. So I'm gonna give him another ‘seven [$7,000]. Then
motherfucker be all, ‘Well, you need another ten [$10,000] . ...” WILEY said, “Nah .
..N ah, nah, because now, that’s why, Lueter wanted tne to deal. You‘know? Because

it ain’t going through you and him [Individual B]. That’s Vsthy Luster Wanted me to
cut in. And I was like, ‘Man, this ain’t even my business, bro.” He [LUSTER] eaid,
‘Look, you started the package, you finish it.” [WILEY explained that LUSTER had
asked WILEY to serve as an intermediary in collecting the $7,000 bribe payment from
CS-2 in exchange for the Looomis Lot lease.] Later in the conversation; WILEY said,

“Tt’s a done deal. It’s done. ... It’s, it’s gonna take a seven, a seven piece. And, you
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know? And then, and then, they haveto ‘take care of, they have to take care of another
guy teo. So, it’s just. But that’s three months, three months before you gotta pay any
rent.” [WILEY explained that an additional bribe of $7,000 would suffice to obtain
the lease for the Loomis Lot, and that Individual B and LUSTER had to split the
$7,000 bribe payment with 4 third party. WILEY explained that the $7,000 payment
included three months of rental payments.]

29.  On the morning of December 20, 2017, CS-2 traveled to Harvej’s City
Hall to attempt to meet with Individual B and/or LUSTER.

30. - On or about December 20, 2017, at ap.proximately 10:00 a.m., CS-2
placed an outgoing call to Individual B, who was using Individual B phone. During
the eall, CS-2 discussed the bribe payment Witlrr Individual B. Specifically, CS-2 said,
“What’s up brother . . . I'm up at City Hall, they said you wasn’t here?” Individual B
said, “No! I vranted to wait fer [unintelligible] Donnie [LUSTER] to come up there,
remember, I told you I'd call you? Is Donnie in there?” CS-2 said, “Oh, I don’t know,
I didn’t ask for him . . .. I talked to him the day before yesterday, so then, I talked to
- Will [WILEY], and then Will told me, you know, told me the number and stuff, and
Se, I mean, I'm good rzjith everything.” [CS-2 said that WILEY had told CS-2 about
the “number,’f meaning the additional $7,000 bribe payment, and CS-2 was Willrng to
pay it.] Indiifidual B said, “Okay, everything, everything 4is hooked up, everything
(urrintelligible).” [Individual B said that the lease to the Loomis Lot would be
approved (“heoked up”).] Individual B told CS-2 he would call LUSTER to let him

know that CS-2 was at City Hall and ready to sign the lease.
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31. Onor about December 20, 2017, at approximately 10:02 a.m., Individual
B placed an outgoing‘call on Individual B phéne tq LUSTER, who was using LUSTER
phone. During the call, Individual B advised LUSTER thét CS-2 had arrived at City

| Hall to sign a lease for the Loomis Lot. Specifically, Individual B said, “Hey Donnie,‘

your [boy/girl]’s in, [CS-2] come in, 50 [s/hé] sign that lease.” LUSTER said, “Okay.”
Immediately after the call, Individual B, using Individual B phone, called CS;Z and
told him/her to go back into City Hall to meet with LUSTER, Who was on his way in.

32.  On or about December 20, 2017, at approximately 10:30 a.m., CS-2 met
with LUSTER inside VLUSTER’S office at City Hall. During the meeting, LUSTER
told CS-2 tolcon’.cinue to listen to what WILEY tol& CS-2 to do in connection With
obtaining the Loomis Lot lease. Specifically, LUSTER said, “I'm going to tell you
right now, listen to Will [WILESH ... Listen to mé, listen to me, listen to Will. [A |
shortened form of Individual B’s first name redacted] called me and told me you was '
corﬁing‘ in to get your papeﬁork ... Listen to Will, I’ml doing your paperwork now . .
. get with Will and you’ll have your paperwork [l'eavse to tile Loomis Lot] done today.”
LUSTER then directed CS-2 to go to the Loomis Lot and start cleaning it up. CS-2-
told LUSTER that CS-2 and WILEY were “tight.” LUSTER said, “That’s.why I'm .
doing this, you follow me?” LUSTER then stated that CS-2 should not “say anything”
about the lease of the Loomis Lot, bﬁt should go ahead and get started cleaping ﬁp
the prbperty. |

33. On or about-January 4, 2018, at approximateiy 5:01 p.m., CS-2 placed

an outgoing call to WILEY, who was using WILEY phone. During the call, WILEY
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said, “Damn [boy/girl], I think you be hearing people talking about you. .. I was just
on the phone with [Individual B’s lést name redacted] and he was falk, asking about
you, and you sfart calling!” Latér in the conversation, WILEY said, "‘No, I told him
[Individual B], me and you gonna get together.” [WILEY told Individual B that
WILEY and CS-2 were going to “get togethér,” which CS-2 and I understood to mean
WILEY was going to collect the additioﬁal $7,000 from CS-2.] .CS-2 asked, “You told

who that, [Individual B’s last name redacted]?” WILEY said, “Uh, [Individual B’s last

name redacted] and Luster.” Later in the conversation, WILEY said, “So whenever
you get ready, uh, just let me know.” [WILEY told CS-2 to contact him once CS-2 was
‘ready to make the $7,000 bribe payment.] CS-2 asked, “Torﬁorrow? Because I’Iﬁ busy
today, shit so, is tomorrow cool?” WILEY answered, “Ok cool, yéah, yeah, I'll let ‘em
[Individual B and LUSTER] know, tomorrow. Hell, [man/woman], hell yeah.”

D. CSQZ Makes a $7,000 Bribe Payment to LUSTER.

34. Agents directed CS-2 to set up a meeting with LUSTER and aftempt to
deliver the $7,000 directly to hirﬁ, instead of going through WILEY. On or about
J anuary.5, 2018, through a series of consensually monitored text messages and phone
calls,' CS-2 and‘ LUSTER, using LUSTER phone, arranged to meet at a i‘estaurant'
that LUSTER owned in South Holland, Illinois, later the same day. LUSTER and
(0S-2 did not discuss the $7,000 payment in these communications. |

35, Before the meeting, agents provided CS-2 with $7,000 in pre-marked

bills inside a white envelope to deliver to LUSTER. Agents then searched CS-2 and
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his/her vehicle and did not find any other large amounts of cash. .CS~2 then traveled
to LUSTER’s restaurant in South Holianci.

36. On or about January.5, 2018, at approximately 12:50 p.m., CS-2 mef
with LUSTER in the back area of LUSTER’s restaurant in South Hblland. During
the meeting, LUSTER told CS-2 that Individual B had wanted CS-2 to pay a $50,000 =
bribe in connection with the Loomis Lot. Speéiﬁcaliy, LUSTER said, “I didn’t even‘
tell you the number [bribe payment demand] that [a shortened form of Individual B’s
- first name redacted] was talking about.” Later in the ;:onversation, CS-2 asked, “Why,
[Individual B’s last name redacted] trying to knock me over the head?” [CS-2 asked

why Individual B was trying to extract an excessively large bribe payment from

told me, ‘{man/woman], you gotta’ watch him [Individual B], [man/woman], because
you, you give him a piece . . . he’s going to want blood.” [CS-2 explained that WILEY
had cautionéd CS-2 that once Individual B received a bribe, he Would get greedy and
ask for a larger bribe‘payment.] LUSTER said, ;‘You know what he [Individual B]
Wanted?_” CS-2 said, “Huh?” LUSTER said, “Think, just, just take a guess. Take a
guess.” CS-2 said, “Ten?” [CS-2 guessed that Individual’ B wanted CS-2 to pay an
additional $10,000 bribe for the Loomis Lot.] LUSTER said, “No sir. Multiply that.
Find a number to multipiy that by.” CS-2 began laughing.and stated, “All for an

empty lot?” LUSTER said, “50.” [Individual B had wanted CS-2 to pay a $50,000
bribe in exchange for a 1easé to the Loomis Lot.] CS-2 said, “Ah, he’s craz&.” Later

in the meeting, according to CS-2, and corroborated by the video recording, CS-2

22




reached into his jacket pocket and pulled out an envelope containing the $7,000 in
United States cﬁrrency provided to CS-2 by law enforcement. According to CS-2, s/he
attempted to hand the envélope containing the money directly to LUSTER, but
LUSTER directed CS-2 to place it on his desk: “Just, just lay it down so, you know.”
[CS—2 explained that CS-2 understood LUSTER to be indicéting that LUSTER did
not want to directly accept the money froxﬁ CS-2 by hand.] CS-2 responded, “Right.”
At_ this point in thg recording, CS-2 appeared to lean forward toward LUSTER while
extending his/her right hand, conéistent with CS-2 placing something on LUSTER’s
desk. Due to the angle of CS-2’s concealéd video recording device, however, it is not
possible to see him/her laying the envelope on LUSTER’s desk. LUSTER then stated,
“Any [CS-2’s race and gender] in a position to do something, I'm in a position to bless
them.” CS-2 said, “Thank you, thank you . . . . Just don’t knock me over the head
man.” [CS-2 asked LUSTER not to demand excessively large bribe payments from
hilﬁ/her in the future.] LUSTER said, “Look, look, I'm not going to fuck nobody .

I'm in business!” LUSTER continued., “Even in doing this [referring to the Loomis
Lot 1eé1se transaction], when Wiley chame‘ to me, I'm like, ‘Wiley, you know, I’mA good,
you know, if [s/he, meéning CS-2] your [boy/girl], I'm good, you know’ .. .. And like
Wiley, the peopleAdon’t know th me and him so fight, but Wiley remembers shit
that when I was the mayor that I did for him that I didn’t remember!”® CS-2 said,

“T w1sh you still was!” LUSTER said, “You ain’t the only person to say that but, where

10 As explained above, LUSTER served as the mayor of Dixmoor, Illinois, from
approximately 2002 until 2004.
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I’'m at right now, I'm not going to lie to you, in the next six months, you fittin’ to eat!”
[LUSTER told CS-2 that, over the next six months, he would use his influence and
positi.on with the City of Harvey to take and/or cause officiai action that was lucrative
forCS-Z.] LUSTER then told CS-2 that he was going to call Individual A, the mayor
of Harvey, later that day and tell him “we need to get going on this thing [issuing the.
Loomis Lot lease to CS-2].” CS-2 said, “Right, so as soon as you give me the green -

| light . . > LUSTER said, “Look, you good . . . you good.” [LUSTER assured CS-2 the
City would approve the leaée for the Loomis Lot.]

37.  After the meeting, CS-2 traveled directly to a predetermined location to
meet with agents. CS-2 reported that s/he delivered the $7,000 to LUSTER by setting
it down on LUSTER’s desk, at LUSTER’s direction. After CS-2’s meeting with
LUSTER? agenté then searched CS-2 and CS-2’s vehicle and confirmed that C5-2 was
no longer. ip possession of the $7,000 that agents had directed CS-2 to deliver to
LUSTER. |

.38. On or about January 7, 2018, at approximately 3:44 p.m.,. LUSTER
placgd an outgoing call on LUSTER phone to CS-2. During the call, CS-2 advised .
LUSTER that WILEY had attempted to contact CS-2. Specifically, CS-2 said, “What’s |
up bro? Hey, uh, Wiley called me last night, said I needéd to speak with you. I was
like, I took care of that already.” [CS-2 explaine(i fo LUSTER that s/he told WILEY
that s/he had already made the $7,000 bribe payment to LUSTER.] LUSTER said,
“Yeah, he called me, he called me to apologiée. I said, ‘[Term used to address WILEY

redacted], I called you for two or three days, you didn’t answer, I said; ‘Well me and
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[CS-2]..... . I got with him, we all good.” [LUSTER explainédv that he had already told
WILEY that LUSTER had receiyed the $7,000 bribe payment from CS-2 directly.]

39. | After CS-2 paid the $7,000 bribe to LUSTER on January 5, 2018,
LUSTER and Individu_al B authorized CS-2 to access and use the Loomis Lot, and
CS-2 did.so for several daysin J anuar& 2018. Ultimately, .CS'—Z did not receive a lease
to the Loomis Lot because agents instructed CS-2 to attempt to obtain a lease to a
different City-owned lot located at 14500 Ashland Avenue (the “Ashland,Lot”)l'1 that
was more centrélly lécatéd in Harvey. On or about February 15, 2018, during a
meeting with CS-2 in LUSTER’S City Hall office, LUSTER and Individual B agreed
to allow CS-2 to move his/her business from the Loomis Lot to the Ashland Lot, and |
LUSTER stated he would prepare a lease to the Ashland Lot for CS-2. However, on
or about .Mar.ch 8, 2018, before CS-2 Ife(:.eived a lease to the Ashland Lot from
LUSTER, the City terminéted LUSTER as a private contractor. Thereafter, despite
several efforts, CS-ZY was unable to obtain a lease to the Ashland Lot from Individual
B.
IV. - Conclusion

53. Based on the facts set forth above, there is provbable cause to believe that
frorﬁ in or around November 2017 to in or around January 2018, LUSTER, WILEY,
and othérs known and unknown did knowingly agree and conspire to commit an

offense against the United States, that is, for an agent of a local government that

1 Based on my review of Cook County Recorder of Deeds records, as well as my
discussions with employees at the Cook County Assessor’s Office, I know that the City
of Harvey has owned the Ashland Lot since at least approximately 2002.
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received $10,000 or more in federal benefits in any one year period to cofruptly solicit,
demand, accept, and agree to accept; anything of value froﬁl an}; persoﬁ, intending to
be influenced or rewarded in connection with any business, tliansaction, or series of
transactions of such local government involving anything of value of $5,000,0r more,
in Violatiori of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(&)(1)(B), all in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371..

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT.

'NIJIKA RUSTAGI
Special Agent
Federal Bureau of Investigation

SUBSCRIBED D SWORN to
5! ‘: 1 2 19

MARIA VALDEZ
United States Magzstrate Judge
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